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To the Members of
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Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tata Capital Financial Services Limited
(hereinafter referred to as the ‘Holding Company’), its associates, which comprise the consolidated
balance sheet as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit and loss (including other
comprehensive income), consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to
as the ‘consolidated financial statements’).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013
(the ‘Act’) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting
principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Holding Company and
its associates as at 31 March 2020, and consolidated profit and other comprehensive income,
consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (‘SAs’) specified under section
143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Holding Company and its associates in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the consolidated financial statements in terms of the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of India and the relevant provisions of the Act, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that
the audit evidence obtained alongwith the consideration of information contained in the ‘Other Matter’
paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements.

Emphasis of matter

We draw attention to Note 50 to the consolidated financial statements, in respect of accounts overdue
but standard at 29 February 2020 where moratorium benefit has been granted, the staging of those
accounts at 31 March 2020 is based on the days past due status as on 29 February 2020 in accordance
with the Reserve Bank of India COVID-19 Regulatory Package.
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B SR & Co. LLP (a Limited Liability, Partnership Apollo Mills Compound

with LLP Registration No. AAB-8181) N. M. Joshi Marg, Mahalaxmi Mumbai -
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Emphasis of matter

As described in Note 50 to the consolidated financial statements, the extent to which the COVID-19
pandemic will impact the Holding Company’s financial performance is dependent on future
developments, which are highly uncertain.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matters.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Description of Key Audit Matter:

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment of loans and advances to customers

Charge: INR 863.51 crores for year ended 31 March 2020

Provision: INR 1,580.85 crores at 31 March 2020

Refer to the accounting policies in “Note 2(x)(a) to the Consolidated Financial Statements: Impairment”, “Note 2(V) to the
Consolidated Financial Statements: Significant Accounting Policies- Use of estimates”, “Note 7: Loans”, “Note 50 to the
Consolidated Financial Statement” and “Note 35 to the Financial Statements: Financial Risk management”.

Subjective estimate Our key audit procedures included:

Recognition and measurement of impairment of loans and  Design / controls

advances involve significant management judgement.
e Evaluating the appropriateness of the impairment

Under Ind AS 109, Financial Instruments, allowance for principles used by management based on the
loan losses are determined using expected credit loss requirements of Ind AS 109 and our business
(‘ECL’) model. The Holding Company’s impairment understanding.

allowance is derived from estimates including the
historical default and loss ratios. Management exercises e  Understanding management’s revised processes, systems

judgement in determining the quantum of loss based on a and controls implemented in relation to impairment
range of factors. allowance process, particularly in view of COVID-19
regulatory package.

The most significant areas in the ECL calculation are:
e Evaluating management’s controls over collation of

- Segmentation of loan book; relevant information used for determining estimates for
o ECL computation, including for assessing the impact

- Determination of exposure at default arising on account of COVID-19.

- Loan staging criteria; e  Assessing the design and implementation of key internal

financial controls over loan impairment process used to

- Calculation of probability of default / loss given calculate the ECL charge.

default;

e  Testing the system reports with the help of our IT
specialists to check the completeness and accuracy of the
data and reports used to perform computations for ECL.

- Consideration of probability weighted scenarios and
forward looking macro-economic factors.

The application of ECL model requires several data
inputs. This increases the risk of completeness and
accuracy of the data that has been used to create
assumptions in the model. In some cases, data is
unavailable and reasonable alternatives have been applied
to allow calculations to be performed.

e Testing key controls operating over the information
technology in relation to certain loan management
systems, including system access and system change
management, program development and computer
operations with the help of our IT specialists in respect of
the changes made to give effect to moratorium benefits
policy approved by the Board.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Description of Key Audit Matter: (Continued)

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment of loans and advances to customers (Continued)

Charge: INR 863.51 crores for year ended 31 March 2020 (Continued)

Provision: INR 1,580.85 cores at 31 March 2020 (Continued)

Impact of COVID-19
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation
declared the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak to

be a pandemic.

Management has identified the impact of, and uncertainty

related to the COVID-19 pandemic as a key element of
of

consideration for recognition and measurement
impairment of loans and advances on account of:

- short and long term macroeconomic effect on
businesses in the country and globally and its
consequential first order and cascading negative
impact on revenue and employment generation
opportunities;

- impact of the pandemic on the Company’s customers
and their ability to repay dues; and

- application of regulatory package announced by the
Reserve Bank of India (‘RBI”) on asset classification
and provisioning.

Management has conducted a qualitative assessment of

significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) of the loan
portfolio and considered updated macroeconomic
scenarios along with using management overlays to
reflect potential impact of COVID-19 on expected credit
losses on its loan portfolio.

Testing of review controls over measurement of
impairment allowances and disclosures in financial
statements.

Testing that the governance controls over ECL are line
with the RBI guidance.

Substantive tests

Assessing  appropriate  application of accounting
principles (including criteria for SICR), validating
completeness and accuracy of the data and

reasonableness of assumptions used in the ECL model /
calculations.

Performing test of details over calculation of ECL, in
relation to the completeness, accuracy and relevance of
data.

Assessing the appropriateness of changes made in
macroeconomic factors and management overlays to
calibrate the risks that are not yet fully captured by the
existing model.

Corroborate through independent check and enquiries the
reasonableness of management’s assessment of severity
of impact of COVID-19 on segments of its loan portfolio
and the resultant impairment provision computed.

Using modelling specialist to test the ECL model
methodology and reasonableness of assumptions used
(including assessing for COVID impact), including
management overlays.

Undertaking model calculations testing through re-
performance, where possible.

Assessing the appropriateness of the additional financial
statement disclosures made by Holding Company’s
regarding impact of COVID-19.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Information Technology

The key audit matter
IT systems and controls

The Holding Company’s key financial accounting and
reporting processes are highly dependent on the
automated controls in information systems. Further, the
prevailing COVID-19 situation has caused the required IT
applications to be made accessible to the employees on a
remote basis.

There exists a risk that gaps in the IT control environment
could result in the financial accounting and reporting
records being materially misstated.

We have focused on program development, user access
management, change management, segregation of duties,
and system application controls over key financial
accounting and reporting systems.

We have identified ‘IT system and controls’ as a Key
Audit Matter since Holding Company’s relies on
automated processes and controls in the day to day
conduct of its business.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our key audit procedures included:

Testing the General IT Control (GITC) over key financial
accounting and reporting systems and supporting control
systems (referred to as in-scope systems)

Testing sample of key controls operating over
information technology in relation to financial accounting
and reporting systems, including system access and
system change management, program development and
computer operations.

Testing the design and operating effectiveness of key
controls over user access management which includes
granting access right, new user creation, removal of user
rights and preventative controls designed to enforce
segregation of duties.

For a selected group of key controls over financial and
reporting system, independently performed procedures to
determine that these controls remained unchanged during
the year or were changed following the standard change
management process.

Evaluating the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of the significant accounts-related IT
automated controls which are relevant to the accuracy of

system calculation, and the consistency of data
transmission.
Assessing other areas independently, that include

password policies, security configurations, controls over
changes to applications and databases and that business
users, developers and production support did not have
access to change applications, the operating system or
databases in the production environment.

Understanding and testing the IT infrastructure (operating
systems and databases supporting the in-scope systems
and related data security controls) in relation to large
number of users working on Holding Company’s systems
remotely in the light of COVID-19.

Other Information

The Holding Company’s management and Board of Directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Holding Company’s annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Other Information (Continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially

misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Management’s and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Holding Company’s Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation and
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in terms of the requirements of the Act that give
a true and fair view of the consolidated state of affairs, consolidated profit/loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Holding
Company and its associates in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India,
including the Indian Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS’) specified under section 133 of the Act. The
respective Management and Board of Directors of the Holding Company and of its associates are
responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the
Act for safeguarding of the assets of each company and for preventing and detecting frauds and
other irregularities; the selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of
adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements by the Management and Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Management and Board of Directors of
the Holding Company and its associates are responsible for assessing the ability of each company to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the respective Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the
company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company and of its associates is also responsible for
overseeing the financial reporting process of each company.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible
for expressing our opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to the consolidated
financial statements and the operating effectiveness of such controls based on our audit.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Management and Board of Directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of Management and Board of Directors use of the going concern
basis of accounting in preparation of consolidated financial statements and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the appropriateness of this assumption. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Holding Company and its associates to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of such entities or
business activities within the Holding Company and its associates to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the audit of financial information of the Holding Company included in the
consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company and such other entities
included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter

should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements include the Holding’s share of net loss (and other comprehensive
income) of Rs. 0.05 crores for the year ended 31 March 2020, as considered in the consolidated
financial statements, in respect of 3 associates, whose financial statements/financial information have
not been audited by us or by other auditors. These unaudited financial statements/financial information
have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements,
in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these associates, and our
report in terms of sub-sections (3) of Section 143 of the Act in so far as it relates to the aforesaid
associates, is based solely on such unaudited financial statements / financial information. In our opinion
and according to the information and explanations given to us by management, these financial
statements/financial information are not material to the Holding Company.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matter with the financial
statements/financial information certified by the Management.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

A. Asrequired by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit, we report, to the extent applicable,
that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid
consolidated financial statements.

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the
aforesaid consolidated financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our
examination of those books.

c) The consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of profit and loss (including other
comprehensive income), the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of
account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Ind AS
specified under section 133 of the Act.

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding
Company as on 31 March 2020 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding
Company, none of the directors of the Holding Company is disqualified as on 31 March 2020
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (Continued)

f)

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements of the Holding Company and its associates incorporated in India and the operating
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in ‘Annexure A’.

B. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditor’s) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our
information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration as noted
in the ‘Other Matter’ paragraph:

i

1l.

iil.

1v.

The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations as at 31
March 2020 on the consolidated financial position of the Holding Company and its associates.
Refer Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Provision has been made in the consolidated financial statements, as required under the
applicable law or Ind AS, for material foreseeable losses, on long-term contracts including
derivative contracts. Refer Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements in respect of such
items as it relates to the Holding Company and its associates.

There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Holding Company during the year ended 31 March 2020.

The disclosures in the consolidated financial statements regarding holdings as well as
dealings in specified bank notes during the period from 8 November 2016 to 30 December
2016 have not been made in the financial statements since they do not pertain to the financial
year ended 31 March 2020.

C.  With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditor’s report under section 197(16):

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the remuneration
paid during the current year by the Holding Company, to its directors is in accordance with the
provisions of Section 197

of the Act. The remuneration paid to any director by the Holding Company, is not in excess of the
limit laid down under Section 197 of the Act. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not
prescribed other details under Section 197(16) which are required to be commented upon by us.

For BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Sagar Lakhani
Mumbai Partner
27 June 2020 Membership No: 111855

ICAT UDIN: 20111855AAAAEN7249
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report of even date

Report on the internal financial controls with reference to the aforesaid consolidated financial
statements under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013

(Referred to in paragraph (A(f)) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’
section of our report of even date)

Opinion

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the
year ended 31 March 2020, we have audited the internal financial controls with reference to
consolidated financial statements of Tata Capital Financial Services Limited (hereinafter referred to as
the ‘Holding Company’) and such companies incorporated in India under the Companies Act, 2013
which are its associate companies, as of that date.

In our opinion, the Holding Company and such companies incorporated in India which are its associate
companies, have, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to
consolidated financial statements and such internal financial controls were operating effectively as at 31
March 2020, based on the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements
criteria established by such companies considering the essential components of such internal controls
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the ’Guidance Note”).

Emphasis of Matter

As described in Emphasis of Matter paragraph of our report to the consolidated financial statements, the
extent to which the COVID - 19 pandemic will have impact on the Holding Company’s internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements is dependent on future developments, which are
highly uncertain.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Company’s management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and
maintaining internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements based on the
criteria established by the respective Company considering the essential components of internal control
stated in the Guidance Note. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance
of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and
efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the respective company’s policies, the
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as
required under the Companies Act, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as the ‘Act’).



B SR & Co. LLP

Tata Capital Financial Services Limited
Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report of even date (Continued)

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the
Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent
applicable to an audit of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements.
Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with
reference to consolidated financial statements were established and maintained and if such controls
operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements and their operating effectiveness.
Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements included
obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial
statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of the internal controls based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial controls with Reference to Consolidated Financial Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company's internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial
statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial controls with Reference to consolidated Financial
Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial
statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation
of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements to future periods are
subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Other Matter

Our aforesaid reports under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of
the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements is not modified insofar
as it relates to 3 associate companies, which are companies incorporated in India, whose financial
statements are unaudited and it not material to the Holding Company.

ForBSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Sagar Lakhani
Mumbai Partner
27 June 2020 Membership No: 111855

UDIN: 20111855AAAAEN7249



Tata Capital Financial Services Limited

Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at March 31, 2020

(Rs. in lakh)

Particulars

ASSETS

(1) Financial assets
(a) Cash and cash equivalents
(b) Bank balances other than (a) above
(c) Derivative financial instruments
(c) Receivables
(i) Trade receivables
(ii) Other receivables
(d) Loans
(e) Investments
(f) Other financial assets
Total financial assets

(2) Non-financial assets
(a) Current tax assets (net)
(b) Deferred tax assets (net)
(c) Investment property
(d) Property, plant and equipment
(e) Capital work-in-progress
(f) Intangible assets under development
(9) Goodwill
(h) Other intangible assets
(i) Other non-financial assets
Total non-financial assets
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
(1) Financial liabilities
(a) Derivative financial instruments
(b) Payables
(i) Trade payables

- Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises

- Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises

(ii) Other trade payables

- Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises

- Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises

(c) Debt Securities

(d) Borrowings (Other than debt securities)
(e) Deposits

(f) Subordinated liabilities

(g) Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities

(2) Non-Financial liabilities

(a) Current tax liabilities (net)
(b) Provisions

(c) Other non-financial liabilities
Total non-financial liabilities
(3) Equity

(a) Equity share capital

(b) Other equity

Total Equity

Total Liabilities and Equity

Significant accounting policies

See accompanying notes forming part of the financial statements
In terms of our report of even date

ForBSR & Co. LLP

Chartered Accountants

Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Sagar Lakhani
Partner
Membership No: 111855

Mumbai
June 27, 2020

Rajiv Sabharwal
(Director)
(DIN No. : 00057333)

Varsha Purandare
(Director)

(DIN No. : 05288076)

Note As at As at
March 31. 2020 March 31. 2019
3 1,58,454 78,426
4 72 87
6 5,674 -
5 4,060 2,885
7 42,60,731 43,01,528
8 19,140 38,159
9 44,715 40,617
44,92,846 44,61,702
12(i) 12,703 8,797
12(ii) 50,788 64,324
10 93,660 91,487
52 62
108 108
10 2,036 2,179
11 28,637 35,140
1,87,984 2,02,097
46,80,830 46,63,799
6 3,381 -
13(ii) 50 -
13(i) 46,102 55,910
14 18,28,010 22,41,571
15 16,94,927 14,62,550
16 2,95,832 3,29,760
17 1,75,758 1,48,715
40,44,060 42,38,506
18 7,745 13,110
19 1,915 1,529
20 5,647 6,164
15,307 20,803
21 1,62,993 1,37,556
22 4,58,470 2,66,934
6,21,463 4,04,490
46,80,830 46,63,799
2
3-55

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
TATA Capital Financial Services Limited

F.N. Subedar Anuradha E. Thakur
(Director) (Director)

(DIN No. : 00028428) (DIN No. : 06702919)
Sarosh Amaria Avan Doomasia
(Managing Director) (Company Secretary)

(DIN No. : 08733676)



Tata Capital Financial Services Limited

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss
for the year ended March 31, 2020

(Rs. in lakh)

Particulars Note

0}

(i)
(iii)
(iv)
()
(vi)

1
v
(0]
(i)
(iii)
(iv)
(iv)
v)
(vi)
(vii)

VI
Vil

Vil

X1
X
X
XIv

XV

Revenue from operations

Interest income 23
Dividend income 24
Rental income 25
Fees and commission income 26
Net gain on fair value changes 27

Net gain on derecognition of investment in associates
Total Revenue from operations
Other income 28

Total Income (1+11)

Expenses

Finance costs 29
Fees and commission expense

Net loss on fair value changes 27
Impairment of investment in associates

Impairment of financial instruments 31
Employee benefits expense 30
Depreciation and amortisation and impairment 10
Other expenses 32

Total expenses (1V)

Profit before exceptional items and tax (111-1V)
Exceptional Items

Share in profit of associates

Profit before tax (V-VI+VII)

Tax expense

(1) Current tax 12(i)
(2) Deferred tax 12(ii)
Net tax expense

Profit for the year from continuing operations (VI11-1X)
Profit from discontinued operations before tax

Tax expense of discontinued operations

Profit from discontinued operations (after tax) (X1-XI11)
Profit for the year (X+XI11)

Other Comprehensive Income

(i) 1tems that will be reclassified subsequently to statement of profit and loss

(a) Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets carried at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income
(FVTOCI)

(b) Income tax relating to fair value gain on financial assets carried at FVTOCI

(c) The effective portion of gains and loss on hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge

(d) Income tax relating to the effective portion of gains and loss on hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge
(e) Share of other comprehensive income in associates (net)

(i) Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to statement of profit and loss
(a) Remeasurement of defined employee benefit plans

(b) Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Total Other Comprehensive Income

Total Comprehensive Income for the year (XIV+XV)(Comprising Profit and Other
Comprehensive (Loss)/Income for the year)

For the year
ended
March 31, 2020

5,47,075
590
39,879
10,756

5,98,300

7,895

6,06,195

3,25,673

9,393
950
86,351
45,027
37,179
56,372
5,60,945

45,250

(5)
45,245
19,684
14,205

33,889

11,356

11,356

(258)

65
(784)
197

(775)
195
(1,355)

10,001

For the year
ended
March 31, 2019

4,81,096
503
35,498
8,575
16,814
11,780
5,54,266
5,597
5,59,863
3,12,501

45,153
45,492
27,423
63,933
4,94,502

65,361

(429)

64,932

23,390
(1,739)
21,651

43,281

43,281

283

(99)
(253)

(548)
(426)

42,855



TATA Capital Financial Services Limited

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (Continued)
for the year ended March 31, 2020

(Rs. in lakh)

Particulars

XVI Earnings per equity share (for continuing operation):
(1) Basic (Rupees)
(2) Diluted (Rupees)

XVII Earnings per equity share (for discontinued operation):
(1) Basic (Rupees)
(2) Diluted (Rupees)
XVIII Earnings per equity share (for continuing and discontinued operations)
(1) Basic (Rupees)
(2) Diluted (Rupees)

Significant accounting policies
See accompanying notes forming part of the financial statements

In terms of our report of even date

ForBSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Sacar Lakhani Raiiv Sabharwal
Partner (Director)
Membership No: 111855 (DIN No. : 00057333)

Varsha Purandare

Mumbai (Director)
June 27, 2020 (DIN No. : 05288076)

Note

3-55

For the year
ended
March 31, 2020

0.91
0.91

0.91
0.91

For the year
ended
March 31, 2019

3.74
3.74

3.74
3.74

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
TATA Capital Financial Services Limited

F.N. Subedar
(Director)
(DIN No. : 00028428)

Sarosh Amaria
(Managing Director)
(DIN No. : 08733676)

Anuradha E. Thakur
(Director)
(DIN No. : 06702919)

Avan Doomasia
(Company Secretary)



Tata Capital Financial Services Limited

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended March 31, 2020

(Rs. in lakh)

Particulars

1 CASH FLOW USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for :
Depreciation and amortisation
Net gain on derecognition of property, plant and equipment
Interest expenses
Discounting charges on commercial paper
Discounting charges on debentures
Interest income
Dividend Income
Net loss /(gain) on fair value changes
- Realised
- Unrealised
Net loss/(gain) on derecognition of investment in Associates
Share in profit of associates
Share based payments- Equity-settled
Provision for leave encashment
Impairment loss allowance on loans (Stage | & I1)
Provision against Restructured Advances
Impairment loss allowance on loans (Stage I11)
Provision against trade receivables
Provision against assets held for sale
Operating Loss before working capital changes and adjustments for interest received, interest
paid and dividend received
Adjustments for :
(Increase) / Decrease in trade receivables
Increase in Loans
(Increase) / Decrease in other financial/non financial assets
Decrease / (Increase) in other financial/ non financial liabilities
Cash used in operations before adjustments for interest received, interest paid and dividend
received

Interest paid

Interest received

Dividend received

Cash from /(used in) operations

Taxes paid
NET CASH FROM / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES = A

2 CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (including capital advances)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of investments
Purchase of mutual fund units
Proceeds from redemption of mutual fund units
Proceeds from sale of investments
Fixed deposits matured
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES =B

3 CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of Equity Shares

Issue of Compulsory Convertible Cumulative Preference share capital

Collection of Loan given to "TCL Employees Welfare Trust"

Debenture issue / loan processing expenses

Interim dividend paid on equity and preference shares (including dividend distribution tax)
Proceeds from borrowings (Other than debt securities)

Proceeds from Debt Securities

Proceeds from Subordinated liabilities

Repayment of Borrowings (Other than debt securities)

Repayment of Debt Securities

Repayment of Debt Subordinated liabilities

Repayment of lease liabilities

NET CASH (USED IN) / GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES=C

Note For the year
ended
March 31, 2020

45,245

37,179
(671)
2,88,860
36,456
357
(5,47,075)
(590)

(5,369)
14,762
950
5
386
221
16,895
69,695
(239)
(746)
(43,679)

(936)
(15,118)
(17,418)

5143
(72,008)

(3,12,175)
5,27,346
590
1,43,753

(28,760)

1,14,993

(21,844)
2,069

(2,10,72,293)
2,10,77,462
3,500

(11,£oe)

25,000

(4,977
(9,196)
44,74,467
20,86,520
56,202
(40,59,814)
(24,98,403)
(90,545)
(3,203)
(23,859)

For the year
ended
March 31, 2019

64,932

27,423
(198)
2,58,332
53,675
494
(4,81,096)
(503)

(9,087)
(7.727)
(11,780)
429
148
316
8,923
(325)
36,591
(36)
1,446
(58,043)

3,672
(7,91,273)
23,057
(18,097)
(8,40,684)

(2,89,640)

4,56,842
503

(6,72,979)

(22,735)

(6,95,714)

(55,763)
1,740
(3,911)
(2,52,63,615)
2,52,70,958
16,602
4,400
(29,589)

1,02,500
(6,571)
(14,154)

29,93,235

33,35,093

57,140
(27,06,317)
(29,65,272)
1)

7,95,653



TATA Capital Financial Services Limited

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)
for the year ended March 31, 2020

(Rs. in lakh)

Particulars

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS(A+B+C)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS AT THE END OF THE YEAR

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as above with cash and bank balances

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the vear as per above

Add : Restricted Cash [Refer note 4(i)]

Add: Fixed deposits with original maturity over 3 months

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER BANK BALANCES AS AT THE END

OF THE YEAR [REFERNOTE 3 & 41

Significant accounting policies
See accompanying notes forming part of the financial statements

In terms of our report of even date

ForBSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Sagar Lakhani Raiiv Sabharwal
Partner (Director)
Membership No: 111855 (DIN No. : 00057333)

Varsha Purandare
(Director)
(DIN No. : 05288076)

Mumbai
June 27, 2020

Note For the year
ended

March 31, 2020

80,028

78,426

1,58,454

1.58.454
34
38

1,58,526

3-55

For the year
ended
March 31, 2019
70,350
8,076

78,426

78,426
52
35

78,513

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
TATA Capital Financial Services Limited

F.N. Subedar
(Director)
(DIN No. : 00028428)

Sarosh Amaria
(Managing Director)
(DIN No. : 08733676)

Anuradha E. Thakur
(Director)
(DIN No. : 06702919)

Avan Doomasia
(Company Secretary)



Tata Capital Financial Services Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended March 31, 2020

(Rs. in lakh)

a. Equity share capital

Particulars Note Rs. in Lakh
Balance as at April 1, 2018 1,29,755
Changes in equity share capital during the 21 7,801
year
Balance as at April 1, 2019 1,37,556
Changes in equity share capital during the 21 25,437
year
Balance at March 31, 2020 1,62,993
b. Other equity
Particulars Reserves and surplus Item of other comprehensive income
Securities Debenture Special Retained General Share options Cost of hedge =~ Remeasurement Fair value gain
premium  Redemption Reserve earnings Reserve outstanding reserve  of defined benefit / (loss) on Total other
Reserve Account account liability Financial equity
Jasset  Assets carried
at FVTOCI
Balance at April 1, 2018 88,942 30,000 35,401 10,719 162 655 - 48 298 1,66,225
Profit for the year - - - 43,281 - - - - - 43,281
Other comprehensive income for the year, - - - - - - - (357) - 69 (426)
net of income tax
Total comprehensive income for the - - - 43,281 - - - (357) - 69 42,855
year
Transfer to stock reserve - equity settled - - - - 267 (267) - - - -
options
Share based payment expense - - - - - 148 - - - 148
Premium on issue of Equity Shares 57,799 - - - - - - - - 57,799
Share issue expenses (93) (93)
Transfer to Special Reserve Account - - 11,581 (11,581) - - - - - -
Balance at March 31, 2019 1,46,648 30,000 46,982 42,419 429 536 - (309) 229 2,66,934
Ind AS 116 transition impact, net of tax - - - (1,205) - - - - - (1,205)
Profit for the year - - - 11,356 - - - - - 11,356
Other comprehensive income for the year, - - - - - - (587) (580) (188) (1,355)
net of income tax
Total comprehensive income for the - - - 10,151 - - (587) (580) (188) 8,796
year
Share issue expenses (214) - - - - - - - - (214)
Transfer to stock reserve - equity settled - - - - 427 (427) - - - -
options
Share based payment expense - - - - - 386 - - - 386
Premium on issue of Equity Shares 1,88,463 - - - - - - - - 1,88,463
Interim Dividend on equity shares - - - (5,895) - - - - - (5,895)
(including tax on dividend)
Transfer to Special Reserve Account - - 4,001 (4,091) - - - - - -
Balance at March 31, 2020 3,34,897 30,000 51,073 42,584 856 495 (587) (889) 41 4,58,470
Significant accounting policies 2
See companying notes forming part of the financial statements 3-55
In terms of our report of even date
ForBSR & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants TATA Capital Financial Services Limited
Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022
Sagar Lakhani Raiiv Sabharwal F.N. Subedar Anuradha E. Thakur
Partner (Director) (Director) (Director)
Membership No: 111855 (DIN No. : 00057333) (DIN No. : 00028428) (DIN No. : 06702919)
Varsha Purandare Sarosh Amaria Avan Doomasia
(Director) (Managing Director) (Company Secretary)
(DIN No. : 05288076) (DIN No. : 08733676)
Mumbai

June 27, 2020



b)

c)

TATA CAPITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED
Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Tata Capital Financial Services Limited (the "Group™) is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tata Capital Limited and a Systemically
Important Non-Deposit Accepting Non-Banking Finance Group (“NBFC”), holding a Certificate of Registration from the Reserve
Bank of India (“RBI”) dated November 4, 2011. The Group together with its associates (collectively, the Group),is primarily engaged
in lending and investing activities. Information on the Group’s associates is provided in Note 53.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance

These Consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards (IND AS) as per the
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended by the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2016,
notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the "Act"), other relevant provisions of the Act, guidelines issued by the
Reserve Bank of India as applicable to an NBFCs and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. Any application
guidance / clarifications / directions issued by RBI or other regulators are implemented as and when they are issued / applicable, the
guidance notes/announcements issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) are also applied except where
compliance with other statutory promulgations require a different treatment. Accounting policies have been consistently applied except
where a newly issued Ind AS is initially adopted or a revision to an existing Ind AS required a change in the accounting policy hitherto
in use. The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue bv the Board of Directors (BOD) on June 27. 2020.

Presentation of consolidated financial statements

The Balance Sheet, Statement of Profit and Loss and Statement of Changes in Equity are prepared and presented in the format
prescribed in the Division Il of Schedule Il of the Companies Act, 2013 (the 'Act’). The Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared
and presented as per the requirements of Ind AS.

A summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information is in accordance with the Companies (Indian
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as specified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the 'Act’) including applicable Indian
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) and accounting principles generally accepted in India.

Amounts in the consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees in Lakh, which is also the Group's functional
currency, and all amounts have been rounded off to the nearest lakhs unless otherwise indicated.

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services at the time of entering
into the transaction.

Investments in associates:

The financial statements of the associates used in the consolidation are drawn up to the same reporting date as that of the Group i.e.,
March 31, 2020, except for certain associates for which financial statements as on the reporting date are not available. These have been
consolidated based on their latest available financial statements. Necessary adjustments have been made for the effects of significant
transactions and other events between the reporting dates of such financial statements and the consolidated Financial Statements.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the share of profit/ (loss) of associates, which have been accounted for using the equity
method as per Ind AS 28- (Accounting for Investments in Associates in Consolidated Financial Statements). Accordingly, the share of
profit/ (loss) of the associates (the loss being restricted to the cost of the investment) have been added/deducted to the costs of
investments.

The difference between the cost of investment in the associate and the share of net assets at the time of acquisition of shares in the
associate is identified in the Consolidated Financial Statements as Goodwill or Capital Reserve as the case may be and adjusted against
the carrying amount of investment in the associate

The carrying amount of investment in associates is reduced to recognise impairment, if any, when there is objective evidence of
impairment.

Measurement of fair values:

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities.

Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes for certain items in these consolidated financial statements is determined
considering the following measurement methods:



vi.

TATA CAPITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED
Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Items Measurement basis

Certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivatives|Fair value

instruments)

Net defined benefit (asset)/liability Fair value of planned assets less present value of defined benefit
obligations

Property plant and equipment Value in use under Ind AS 36

Fair values are categorized into different levels (Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3) in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the
valuation techniques. When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible.
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair
value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant
to the entire measurement.

The levels are described as follows:

Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement date

Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly; and

Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the valuation of assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date.
Valuation model and framework used for fair value measurement and disclosure of financial instrument

Refer notes 34(a) & 34(b)

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the change
has occurred

Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires the management of the Group to make

judgements, assumptions and estimates that affect the reported balances of assets and liabilities and disclosures relating to the
contingent liabilities as at the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of income and expenses for the
reporting period. The application of accounting policies that require critical accounting estimates involving complex and subjective
judgments and the use of assumptions in the consolidated financial statements have been disclosed as applicable in the respective notes
to accounts. Accounting estimates could change from period to period. Future results could differ from these estimates. Appropriate
changes in estimates are made as the Management becomes aware of changes in circumstances surrounding the estimates. Changes in
estimates are reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the period in which changes are made and, if material, their effect are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Judgements:
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have most significant effect on the amount recognised in the
consolidated financial statements is included in the following note:

Note xii - classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which the assets are held and assessment of
whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Assumptions and estimation of uncertainties:

Information about assumptions and estimation of uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment in the
year ending March 31, 2020 are included in the following notes:

xiii. Impairment test of non-financial assets: key assumption underlying recoverable amounts.

xii. The Group’s EIR methodology: rate of return that represents The best estimate of A constant rate of return over The expected
behavioural life of loans given/taken

xiii. Useful life of property, plant, equipment and intangibles.

41. Significant judgments are involved in determining The provision for income taxes, including amount expected to be paid /
recovered for uncertain Tax positions

xxii. Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies: key assumptions about the likelihood and magnitude of an
outflow of resources.

xv. Measurement of defined benefit obligations: key actuarial assumptions.

34. Determination of the fair value of financial instruments with significant unobservable inputs.

34. Impairment of financial instruments: assessment of whether credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition, assumptions used in estimating recoverable cash flows and incorporation of forward-looking information in the
measurement of expected credit loss (ECL).

The Group has estimated the possible effects that may arise from the COVID-19 pandemic, on the carrying amount of its assets. For
details, please refer disclosure on expected credit losses (ECL) and disclosure on fair valuation. The extent to which COVID-19
pandemic will impact current estimates is uncertain at this point in time. The impact of COVID-19 on the Group's financial position
may differ from that estimated as on the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements.




Vii.

viii.

TATA CAPITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Interest

Interest consists of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding
during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin.

Interest income and expense are recognised using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate (EIR) is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset or amortised cost of the financial liability.

Calculation of the EIR includes all fees paid or received that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a
financial asset or liability.

Interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of non-credit impaired financial assets (i.e. at the
amortised cost of the financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance). For credit-impaired financial assets the
interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of the credit-impaired financial assets {i.e. at the amortised cost
of the financial asset after adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance (ECLs)}. The Group assesses the collectability of the
interest on credit impaired assets at each reporting date. Based on the outcome of such assessment, the interest income accrued on
credit impaired financial assets are either accounted for as income or written off as per the write off policy of the Group.

The interest cost is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of the financial liability.

The ‘amortised cost' of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured
on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of
any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss
allowance.

The 'gross carrying amount of a financial asset' is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss
allowance.

Income not integral to effective interest rate (EIR) method under Ind AS 109 and Income from services and distribution of
financial products

The Group recognises the fee and commission income not integral to EIR under Ind AS 109 in accordance with the terms of the
relevant customer contracts / agreement and when it is probable that the Group will collect the consideration for items.

Revenue in the form of income from financial advisory, underwriting commission, income from private equity, distribution from
private equity funds, income from distribution from financial products (brokerage) (other than for those items to which Ind AS 109 -
Financial Instruments are applicable) is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable, in accordance with Ind AS
115 - Revenue from contracts with customers.

The Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers based on a five step model as set out in Ind AS 115:

Step 1: Identify contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that creates
enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for every contract that must be met.

Step 2: Identify performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation is a promise in a contract with a customer to
transfer a good or service to the customer.

Step 3: Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a contract that has more than one performance
obligation, the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation in an amount that depicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance obligation.

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation.

Fees for financial advisory services are accounted as and when the service is rendered, provided there is reasonable certainty of its
ultimate realisation.

Revenue from brokerage is recognised when the service is performed. Trail brokerage is recognised at the end of the measurement
period when the pre-defined thresholds are met. Revenue is net of applicable indirect taxes and sub-brokerage.

Other Income includes branch advertising, represents income earned from the activities incidental to the business and is recognised
when the right to receive the income is established as per the terms of the contract.

Dividend income
Income from dividend on investment in equity shares of corporate bodies and units of mutual funds is accounted when the Group’s
right to receive dividend is established.
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Xii.

TATA CAPITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Leases

Asset given on lease:

Leases are classified as operating lease where significant portion of risks and reward of ownership of assets acquired under lease is
retained by the lessor. Leases of assets under which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are effectively retained by
the lessee are classified as finance lease.

Assets given under finance lease are recognised as a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. Lease rentals are
apportioned between principal and interest on the internal rate of return. The principal amount received reduces the net investment in
the lease and interest is recognised as revenue.

Lease rental - under operating leases (excluding amount for services such as insurance and maintenance) are recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, except for increase in line with expected inflationary cost increases.

Asset taken on lease:

The Group's lease assets taken on leases primarily consist of leases for properties.

As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment of whether the lease
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Under Ind AS 116, the Group recognises right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for certain type of its leases.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property, plant and equipment' in the same line item as it presents underlying assets of the
same nature it owns.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The cost of the right-of-use asset
measured at inception shall comprise of the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset or restoring the underlying asset or site on which it
is located. The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss,
if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability. The right-of-use assets is depreciated using the straight-line
method from the commencement date over the shorter of lease term or useful life of right-of-use asset. The estimated useful lives of
right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. Right-of-use assets are tested for
impairment whenever there is any indication that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment loss, if any, is recognized
in the statement of profit and loss. When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property, it is presented in investment
property.

The Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses incremental borrowing rate.

The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease payment made. The
carrying amount of lease liability is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to reflect revised in-substance
fixed lease payments. A change in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or as
appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a termination
option is reasonably certain not be exercised.

The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for some lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include renewal
options. The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease term, which significantly
affects the amount of lease liabilities and right of use assets recognised. The discounted rate is generally based on incremental
borrowing rate specific to the lease being evaluated.

The Group has adopted Ind AS 116, effective annual reporting period beginning April 1, 2019 and applied the standard to its leases,
retrospectively, with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard, recognized on the date of initial application (April 1,
2019). Accordingly, the Group has not restated comparative information, instead, the cumulative effect of initially applying this
standard has been recognized as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings as on April 1, 2019.

Borrowing Cost

Borrowing costs include interest expense calculated using the EIR on respective financial instruments measured at amortised cost,
finance charges in respect of assets acquired on finance lease and exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings, to
the extent they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs

While computing the capitalisation rate for funds borrowed generally, an entity should exclude borrowing costs applicable to
borrowings made specifically for obtaining a qualifying asset, only until the asset is ready for its intended use or sale. Borrowing costs
(related to specific borrowings) that remain outstanding after the related qualifying asset is ready for intended use or for sale would
subsequently be considered as part of the general borrowing costs of the entity.

Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group's balance sheet on trade date, i.e. when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs and revenues that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs and revenues of financial assets or financial liabilities carried at fair value through the profit or
loss account are recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit or Loss.
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Financial assets

Classification

On initial recognition, depending on the Group's business model for managing the financial assets and its contractual cash flow
characteristics, a financial asset is classified as measured at;

Amortised cost;

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or

Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL).

The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if and in the period the Group changes its business
model for managing financial assets.

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost using Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not recognised as at FVTPL:

The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment's fair value in OCI (designated as FVOCI - equity investment). This election is made an investment - by -
investment basis.

All financials assets not classified and measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. On initial
recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate the financials assets that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at
amortized cost or at FVOCI or at FVTPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces the accounting mismatch that would otherwise
arise.

Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because
this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

-the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.

-how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group's management;

-the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and how those
risks are managed;

-the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectation about future
sales activity.

-'How managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether the compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or on
the contractual cash flows collected).

At initial recognition of a financial asset, the Group determines whether newly recognized financial assets are part of an existing
business model or whether they reflect a new business model. The Group reassess its business models each reporting period to
determine whether the business models have changed since the preceding period.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal' is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. That principal
amount may change over the life of the financial assets (e.g. if there are payments of principal). Amount of 'Interest' is defined as
consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular
period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group considers the contractual terms
of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or
amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group considers:
-Contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

-Terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable interest rate features;

-Prepayment and extension features; and

-Terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows from specified assets.

Contractual cash flows that are SPPI are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Contractual terms that introduce exposure to
risks or volatility in the contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement, such as exposure to changes in equity
prices or commodity prices, do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are SPPI.
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A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment amount substantially
represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional
compensation for early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a significant discount or premium to
its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual par
amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early
termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition.

Subseguent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and
losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. The transaction costs and fees are also
recorded related to these instruments in the statement of profit and loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Any gain or loss on de-
recognition is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets (other than Equity Investments) at FVOCI |Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both, selling financial assets and collecting contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest, are subsequently|
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Fair value
movements are recognized in the other comprehensive income (OCI).
Interest income measured using the EIR method and impairment losses, if
any are recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss. On derecognition,
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from
the equity to 'other income' in the statement of Profit and Loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are
recognised as income in the Statement of Profit and Loss unless the
dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Reclassifications within classes of financial assets

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Group changes its business
model for managing financial assets. The classification and measurement requirements of the new category apply prospectively from
the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that result in reclassifying the Group’s financial assets.

Impairment of Financial Asset
Impairment approach
Overview of the Expected Credit Losses (ECL) principles

The Group records allowance for expected credit losses for all loans (including those classified as measured at F\VOCI), together with
loan commitments, in this section all referred to as 'financial instruments' other than those measured at FVTPL. Equity instruments are
not subject to impairment under Ind AS 109.

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit loss or
LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is based on the 12
months' expected credit loss (12m ECL). The Group's policies for determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk are
set out in Note 35.

The 12m ECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

Both LTECLs and 12m ECLs are calculated on an individual/portfolio basis- having similar risk characteristic, depending on the
nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments.

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a financial instrument's
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the
remaining life of the financial instrument.
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Based on the above process, the Group categorises its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, as described below:

Stage 1: When loans are first recognised, the Group recognises an allowance based on 12mECLs. This also include facilities where the
credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 2.

Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Group records an allowance for the LTECLs.
Stage 2 loans also include facilities, where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3.

Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired. A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make the contractual
payments within 90 days of when they fall due. Accordingly, the financial assets shall be classified as Stage 3, if on the reporting date,
it has been 90 days past due. Further if the customer has requested forbearance in repayment terms, such restructured, rescheduled or
renegotiated accounts are also classified as Stage 3. Non-payment on another obligation of the same customer is also considered as a
stage 3. The Group records an allowance for the LTECLSs.

Undrawn loan commitments
Undrawn loan commitments are commitments under which, over the duration of the commitment, the Group is required to provide a
loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Undrawn loan commitments are in the scope of the ECL requirements.

Financial guarantee contract:

A financial guarantee contract requires the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL and not
arising from a transfer of a financial asset, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

« the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with Ind AS 109; and

« the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the Group’s
revenue recognition policies. The Group has not designated any financial guarantee contracts as FVTPL.

Group’s ECL for financial guarantee is estimated based on the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs. The shortfalls are discounted by the interest rate relevant to the exposure.

The Measurement of ECLs

The Group calculates ECLs based on a probability-weighted scenario to measure the expected cash shortfalls, discounted at an
approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows:

PD: The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default may only happen at a
certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously derecognised and is still in the portfolio.

EAD: The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes in the
exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected
drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments.

LGD: The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. It is based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from the realisation of
any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.

Impairment losses and releases are accounted for and disclosed separately from modification losses or gains that are accounted for as
an adjustment of the financial asset's gross carrying value

When estimating LTECLs for undrawn loan commitments, the Group estimates the expected portion of the loan commitment that will
be drawn down over its expected life. The ECL is then based on the present value of the expected shortfalls in cash flows if the loan is
drawn down, based on a probability-weightage. The expected cash shortfalls are discounted at an approximation to the expected EIR
on the loan.

The above calculated PDs, EAD and LGDs are reviewed and changes in the forward looking estimates are analysed during the year.

The mechanics of the ECL method are summarised below:

Stage 1 The 12 months ECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. These expected 12-months default probabilities are
applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected LGD.

Stage 2 When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Group records an allowance for the LTECLs.
The mechanics are similar to those explained above, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. The expected
cash shortfalls are discounted by an contractual or portfolio EIR as the case may be.

Stage 3 For loans considered credit-impaired, the Group recognises the lifetime expected credit losses for these loans. The method is
similar to that for stage 2 assets, with the PD set at 100%.

In ECL model the Group relies on broad range of forward looking information for economic inputs.
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The Group recognises loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on all financial assets at amortised cost that are debt
instruments, debt financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, loan commitments and financial guarantee

contracts. No impairment loss is recoanised on eauity investments.
When determining whether credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating

expected credit losses, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, including on historical experience and forward-looking
information (Refer Note 34).

Impairment of Trade receivable and Operating lease receivable

Impairment allowance on trade receivables is made on the basis of life time credit loss method, in addition to specific provision
considering the uncertainty of recoverability of certain receivables.

Write-off

Impaired loans and receivables are written off, against the related allowance for loan impairment on completion of the Group's internal
processes and when the Group concludes that there is no longer any realistic prospect of recovery of part or all of the loan. For loans
that are individually assessed for impairment, the timing of write off is determined on a case by case basis. A write-off constitutes a de-
recognition event. The Group has a right to apply enforcement activities to recover such written off financial assets. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the statement of profit and loss.

Collateral valuation and repossession

To mitigate the credit risk on financial assets, the Group seeks to use collateral, where possible as per the powers conferred on the Non
Banking Finance Companies under the Securitisation and Reconstruction of Financial Assets and Enforcement of Securities Interest
Act, 2002 (“SARFAEST”).

The Group provides fully secured, partially secured and unsecured loans to individuals and Corporates. In its normal course of business
upon account becoming delinquent, the Group physically repossess properties or other assets in its retail portfolio. Any surplus funds
are returned to the customers/obligors. As a result of this practice, the residential properties, vehicles, plant and machinery under legal
repossession processes are not recorded on the balance sheet and not treated as non—current assets held for sale unless the title is also
transferred in the name of the Group.

Presentation of ECL allowance for financial asset:

Type of Financial asset Disclosure
Financial asset measured at amortised cost shown as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets
Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts shown separately under the head "provisions"

Modification and De-recognition of financial assets

Modification of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or
otherwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the financial asset. A modification affects the amount and/or timing of
the contractual cash flows either immediately or at a future date. The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulty to
maximise collection and minimise the risk of default. A loan forbearance is granted in cases where although the borrower made all
reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms, there is a high risk of default or default has already happened and the
borrower is expected to be able to meet the revised terms. The revised terms in most of the cases include an extension of the maturity
of the loan, changes to the timing of the cash flows of the loan (principal and interest repayment), reduction in the amount of cash
flows due (principal and interest forgiveness). Such accounts are classified as stage 3 immediately upon such modification in the terms
of the contract.

Not all changes in terms of loans are considered as renegotiation and changes in terms of a class of obligors that are not overdue is not
considered as renegotiation and is not subjected to deterioration in staging.

De-recognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset, or the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the
portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability
assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss.

Any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment securities designated as at FVOCI is not recognised in
profit or loss on derecognition of such securities. Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is
created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial liability, Equity and Compound Financial Instruments

Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangement.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at the amortised cost using the effective interest method, unless at initial recognition,
they are classified as fair value through profit and loss. Interest expense are recognised in the Statement of profit and loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is also recognised in the statement of profit or loss.




b)

TATA CAPITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED
Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial liabilities

A financial liability is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset or to exchange financial assets or financial
liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group or a contract that will or may be settled in
the Group's own equity instruments and is a non-derivative contract for which the Group is or may be obliged to deliver a variable
number of its own equity instruments, or a derivative contract over own equity that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of
a fixed amount of cash (or another financial asset) for a fixed number of the Group's own equity instruments.

Classification
The Group classifies its financial liability as "Financial liability measured at amortised cost" except for those classified as financial
liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL).

De-recognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. A conversion option that will
be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Group's own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.

No gain/loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments.

Compound instruments

The Group has issued financial instruments with equity conversion rights and call options. When establishing the accounting treatment
for these non-derivative instruments, the Group first establishes whether the instrument is a compound instrument and classifies such
instrument’s components separately as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with Ind AS 32. Classification of the
liability and equity components of a convertible instrument is not revised as a result of a change in the likelihood that a conversion
option will be exercised, even when exercising the option may appear to have become economically advantageous to some holders.
When allocating the initial carrying amount of a compound financial instrument to the equity and liability components, the equity
component is assigned as the residual amount after deducting from the entire fair value of the

instrument, the amount separately determined for the liability component. The value of any derivative features (such as a call options)
embedded in the compound financial instrument, other than the equity component (such as an equity conversion option), is included in
the liability component. Once the Group has determined the split between equity and liability, it further evaluates whether the liability
component has embedded derivatives that must be separately accounted for. Subsequently the liability is measured as per requirement
of IND AS 109.

A Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (CCCPS), with an option to holder to convert the instrument into variable
number of equity shares of the entity upon redemption is classified as a financial liability and dividend including dividend distribution
tax is accrued on such instruments and recorded as finance cost. Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity date
of the convertible note, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to retained profits. No gain/loss is recognised in profit or
loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures. Embedded derivatives
are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if certain criteria are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value; any directly attributed transaction costs are recognised in profit and loss as incurred.
Subsequent to initial recognition derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are generally recognised in profit and loss.

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments to hedge the variability in cash flows associated with its floating rate
borrowings arising from changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

At inception of designated hedging relationships, the Group documents the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the
hedge. The Group also documents the economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including whether
the changes in cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument are expected to offset each other.

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is
recognised in OCI and accumulated in the other equity under 'effective portion of cash flows hedges'. The effective portion of changes
in the fair value of the derivative that is recognised in OCI is limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item,
determined on a present value basis, from inception of the hedge. Any ineffective portion of changes in fair value of the derivative is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group designates only the change in fair value of the spot element of forward exchange contracts as the hedging instrument in
cash flow hedge relationships. The change in fair value of the forward element of the forward exchange contracts (‘forward points') is
separately accounted for as cost of hedging and recognised separately within equity.

If a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the hedging instrument is sold, expires, is terminated or is exercised,
then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, then the amounts
that have been accumulated in other equity are immediately reclassified to profit or loss.
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Cash, Cash equivalents and bank balances

Cash, Cash equivalents and bank balances include fixed deposits, (with an original maturity of three months or less from the date of
placement), margin money deposits, and earmarked balances with banks are carried at amortised cost. Short term and liquid
investments being subject to more than insignificant risk of change in value, are included as part of cash and cash equivalents.

Property, plant and equipment (PPE)

PPE

Property, plant and equipment acquired by the Group are reported at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses and estimated cost of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which its located if any. However
estimated cost of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which its located does not arise for leased assets since the
same are borne by the lessee as per the lease agreement. The acquisition cost includes any cost attributable for bringing an asset to its
working condition net of tax/duty credits availed, which comprises of purchase consideration and other directly attributable costs of
bringing the assets to their working condition for their intended use. PPE is recognised when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Subsequent expenditure on
PPE after its purchase is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the enterprise and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably.

Capital work-in-progress
PPE not ready for the intended use on the date of the Balance Sheet are disclosed as "capital work-in-progress" and carried at cost,
comprising direct cost, related incidental expenses and attributable interest.

Other Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised when it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the
Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are stated at original cost net of tax/duty credits availed, if
any, less accumulated amortisation and cumulative impairment. Administrative and other general overhead expenses that are
specifically attributable to the acquisition of intangible assets are allocated and capitalised as a part of the cost of the intangible assets.
Expenses on software support and maintenance are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss during the year in which such costs are
incurred.

Intangible assets under development
Intangible assets not ready for the intended use on the date of Balance Sheet are disclosed as "Intangible assets under development".

Depreciation and Amortisation

Depreciable amount for tangible property, plant and equipment is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its
estimated residual value. The residual value of each asset given on Operating lease is determined at the time of recording of the lease
asset. If the residual value of the Operating lease asset is higher than 5%, the Group has a justification in place for considering the
same.

Depreciation on tangible property, plant and equipment deployed for own use has been provided on the straight-line method as per the
useful life prescribed in Schedule 1l to the Companies Act, 2013 except in respect of buildings, computer equipment, electrical
installation and equipment and vehicles, in whose case the life of the assets has been assessed based on the nature of the asset, the
estimated usage of the asset, the operating conditions of the asset, past history of replacement, etc. Depreciation on tangible property,
plant and equipment deployed on operating lease has been provided on the straight-line method over the primary lease period of the
asset. Depreciation method is reviewed at each financial year end to reflect expected pattern of consumption of the future economic
benefits embodied in the asset. The estimated useful life and residual values are also reviewed at each financial year end with the effect
of any change in the estimates of useful life/residual value is accounted on prospective basis. Depreciation for additions to/deductions
from owned assets is calculated pro rata to the remaining period of use. Depreciation charge for impaired assets is adjusted in future
periods in such a manner that the revised carrying amount of the asset is allocated over its remaining useful life. All capital assets with
individual value less than Rs. 5,000 are depreciated fully in the year in which they are purchased.

Purchased software / licenses are amortised over the estimated useful life during which the benefits are expected to accrue, while
Goodwill if any is tested for impairment at each Balance Sheet date. The method of amortisation, residual value and useful life are
reviewed at the end of each accounting year with the effect of any changes in the estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
Amortisation on impaired assets is provided by adjusting the amortisation charge in the remaining periods so as to allocate the asset's
revised carrying amount over its remaining useful life.



Xiv.

f

a)

h)

TATA CAPITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Estimated useful life considered by the Group are:

Asset

Estimated Useful Life

Leasehold Improvements

As per lease period

Construction Equipment

210 13.5 years

Furniture and Fixtures

Owned: 10 years

Leased: 3 to 7 years

Computer Equipment

Owned: 3 to 4 years

Leased: 2 to 4 years

Office Equipment

Owned: 5 years

Leased: 3 to 5 years

Vehicles

Owned: 4 years

Leased: 1 to 5 years

Software Licenses

Owned: 1 to 10 years

Leased: 1 to 3 years

Buildings

25 years

Plant & Machinery

Owned: 10 years

Leased: 2 to 15 years

Railway Wagons

Leased: 6 years

Electrical Installation & Equipment

Leased: 3 to 6 years

Investment property

Properties held to earn rentals and/or capital appreciation are classified as Investment properties and measured and reported at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition its measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. When the use of an existing property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is
reclassified as investment property at its carrying amount on the date of reclassification.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of property is recognised in the
Statement of Profit and Loss in the same period.

Impairment of assets

Upon an observed trigger or at the end of each accounting reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its PPE,
investment property and intangible asset to determine whether there is any indication that the asset have suffered an impairment loss. If
such indication exists, the PPE, investment property and intangible assets are tested for impairment so as to determine the impairment
loss, if any.

Impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher
of fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, such deficit is recognised immediately in the
Statement of Profit and Loss as impairment loss and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss is recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement
of Profit and Loss.

De-recognition of property, plant and equipment and intangible asset

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of PPE is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. An
intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Non-Current Assets held for sale:

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount is intended to be recovered principally through a sale (rather
than through continuing use) when the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual
and customary for sale of such asset and the sale is highly probable and is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale
within one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

The Group has a policy to make impairment provision at one third of the value of the Asset for each year upon completion of three
years up to the end of five years based on the past observed pattern of recoveries. Losses on initial classification as Held for sale and
subsequent gains & losses on remeasurement are recognised in Statement of Profit and loss. Once classified as Held for sale, the assets
are no longer amortised or depreciated.



XV.

@

(b)

TATA CAPITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Employee Benefits

Defined Employee benefits include provident fund and superannuation fund.

Defined contribution benefits include gratuity fund, compensated absences and long service awards

Defined contribution plans

The eligible employees of the Group are entitled to receive benefits under the provident fund, a defined contribution plan, in which
both employees and the Group make monthly contributions at a specified percentage of the covered employees' salary (currently 12%
of employees' salary), which is recognised as an expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss based on the amount of contribution
required to be made and when services are rendered by the employees in the year in which they occur. The contributions as specified
under the law are paid to the provident fund set up as irrevocable trust by the Group. The Group is generally liable for annual
contributions and any deficiency in interest cost compared to interest computed based on the rate of interest declared by the Central
Government under the Employee's Provident Scheme, 1952 is recognised as an expense in the year in which it is determined

The Group's contribution to superannuation fund and employee state insurance scheme are considered as defined contribution plans
and are charged as an expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss based on the amount of contribution required to be made and when
services are rendered by the employees.

Defined benefit plans

For defined benefit plans in the form of gratuity, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit method,
with actuarial valuations being carried out at each Balance Sheet date. As per Ind AS 19, the service cost and the net interest cost are
charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss. Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and
losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised in
Other Comprehensive Income. Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested. The
retirement benefit obligation recognised in the Balance Sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation as adjusted
for unrecognised past service cost, as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to
past service cost. plus the oresent value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the schemes.

Short-term employee benefits

"The undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the services rendered by employees are
recognised during the year when the employees render the service. These benefits include performance incentive and compensated
absences which are expected to occur within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in which the employee renders the
related service.

The cost of short-term compensated absences is accounted as under:

in case of accumulated compensated absences, when employees render the services that increase their entitlement of future
compensated absences; and

in case of non-accumulating compensated absences, when the absences occur.

Other long-term employee benefits

Compensated absences which are not expected to occur within twelve months after the end of the year in which the employee renders
the related service are recognised as a liability at the present value of the defined benefit obligation as at the balance sheet date less the
fair value of the plan assets out of which the obligations are expected to be settled. Long term service awards are recognised as a
liability at the present value of the defined benefit obligation as at the balance sheet date.

The obligation is measured on the basis of actuarial valuation using Projected unit credit method and remeasurements gains/ losses are
recognised in P&L in the period in which they arise.

Share based payment transaction

The stock options of the Parent Group, granted to employees pursuant to the Group’s Stock Options Schemes, are measured at the fair
value of the options at the grant date as per Black and Scholes model. The fair value of the options is treated as discount and accounted
as employee compensation cost, with a corresponding increase in other equity, over the vesting period on a straight line basis. The
amount recognised as expense in each year is arrived at based on the number of grants expected to vest. If a grant lapses after the
vesting period, the cumulative discount recognised as expense, with a corresponding increase in other equity, in respect of such grant is
transferred to the General reserve within other equity
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Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in currencies other than the Group's functional currency are recorded on initial recognition using the exchange rate at the
transaction date. At each Balance Sheet date, foreign currency monetary items are reported at the rates prevailing at the year end. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences that arise on settlement of monetary items or on reporting of monetary items at each Balance Sheet date at the
closing spot rate are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which they arise.

Operating Segments

The Group's main business is financing by way of loans for retail and corporate borrowers in India. The Group's operating segments
consist of "Financing Activity”, " Investment Activity" and "Others". All other activities of the Group revolve around the main
businesses. This in the context of Ind AS 108 - operating segments reporting are considered to constitute reportable segment. The
Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) of the Group is the Board of Directors. Operating segment disclosures are consistent with

the information reviewed by the CODM.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's other components, and for which discrete
financial information is available. Accordingly, all operating segment's operating results of the Group are reviewed regularly by the
Board of Directors to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments and assess their performance.

The "Financing Activity" segment consists of asset financing, term loans (corporate and retail), channel financing, credit substitutes,
investments linked to/arising out of lending business and bill discounting. The "Investment Activity" segment includes corporate
investments and "Others" segment primarily includes advisory services, wealth management, distribution of financial products and
leasing.

Revenue and expense directly attributable to segments are reported under each operating segment. Expenses not directly identifiable to
each of the segments have been allocated to each segment on the basis of associated revenues of each segment. All other expenses
which are not attributable or allocable to segments have been disclosed as un-allocable expenses.

Assets and liabilities that are directly attributable to segments are disclosed under each reportable segment. All other assets and
liabilities are disclosed as un-allocable.

Investments in associates
The Group has elected to measure investment in associate at cost as per Ind AS 27 - Separate Financial Statements, accordingly
measurement at fair value through statement of profit and loss account and related disclosure under Ind AS 109 does not apply.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share has been computed by dividing net income attributable to owners of the Group by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the year. Partly paid up equity share is included as fully paid equivalent according to the fraction
paid up.

Diluted earnings per share has been computed using the weighted average number of shares and dilutive potential shares, except where
the result would be anti-dilutive

Taxation

Income Tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Income tax expense is recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss, other
comprehensive income or directly in equity when they relate to items that are recognized in the respective line items.

Current Tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustment to the tax
payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax reflects the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be
paid or received after considering the uncertainty, if any, related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates (and tax law) enacted
or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and it is intended

to realise the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or simultaneously.

Deferred Tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying values
of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and unutilized business loss and depreciation carry-forwards and tax credits.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, depreciation carry-forwards and unused tax credits could be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are recognised/ reduced to the extent that it is
probable/ no longer probable respectively that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Goods and Services Input Tax Credit
Goods and Services Input tax credit is accounted for in the books in the period in which the supply of goods or service received is
accounted and when there is no uncertainty in availing/utilising the credits.
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Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events, and it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation. When the effect of the time value of money is material, the Group determines the level of provision by
discounting the expected cash flows at a pre-tax rate reflecting the current rates specific to the liability. The expense relating to any
provision is presented in the Statement of Profit and Loss net of any reimbursement.

Contingent assets/liabilities

A possible obligation that arises from past events and the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group or; present obligation that arises from
past events where it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation;
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability are disclosed as contingent liability and not provided for.
Contingent assets are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. Contingent assets are not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.

Where the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under
such contract, the present obligation under the contract is recognised and measured as a provision

Commitments

Commitments are future liabilities for contractual expenditure, classified and disclosed as follows:

estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for;

uncalled liability on shares and other investments partly paid;

funding related commitment to associate; and

other non-cancellable commitments, if any, to the extent they are considered material and relevant in the opinion of management.
other commitments related to sales/procurements made in the normal course of business are not disclosed to avoid excessive details.
commitments under Loan agreement to disburse Loans

lease agreements entered but not executed

Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Cash Flows is prepared segregating the cash flows into operating, investing and financing activities. Cash flow from
operating activities is reported using indirect method adjusting the net profit for the effects of:

changes during the period in operating receivables and payables transactions of a non-cash nature;

non-cash items such as depreciation, Impairment, deferred taxes, unrealised foreign currency gains and losses, and undistributed
profits of associates and joint ventures; and

all other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents (including bank balances) shown in the Statement of Cash Flows exclude items which are not available for
general use as on the date of Balance Sheet.

Dividend payable (including dividend distribution tax)

Interim dividend declared to equity shareholders, if any, is recognised as liability in the period in which the said dividend has been
declared by the Board of Directors. Final dividend declared, if any, is recognised in the period in which the said dividend has been
approved by the Shareholders.

The dividend payable (including dividend distribution tax) is recognised as a liability with a corresponding amount recognised directly
in equity.

New Ind AS issued but not effective as on March 31, 2020

A number of new standards and interpretations and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1st April
2019 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards and interpretations
in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

The following new Ind AS, interpretations and amendments to Ind AS are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and the Group’s statement of financial position.

Applicable to financial year ended March 31, 2021 Group's consolidated financial statements:
*Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in Ind AS Standards

*Definition of a Business (Amendments to Ind AS 103)

*Definition of Material (Amendment to Ind AS 1 and Ind AS 8)
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as at March 31, 2020
(Rs. in lakh)

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

PARTICULARS As at As at

March 31. 2020 March 31. 2019
(a) Cash on hand 59
(b) Balances with banks in current accounts 1,58,215 78,087
(c) Cheques on hand 239 280
Total 1,58,454 78,426
Note:

(i) As at March 31, 2020, the Group had undrawn committed borrowing facilities of Rs. 5,14,300 Lakh  (

March 31, 2019 : Rs. 3,08,200 Lakh).

4. OTHER BALANCES WITH BANKS

PARTICULARS As at As at|

March 31. 2020 March 31. 2019
(a) Balances with banks in current accounts (refer note (i) below) 34 52
(b) Balances with banks in deposit accounts (Refer note below) 38 35
Total 72 87
Note:

(i) Balance with banks in current accounts includes Rs. 34 lakh ( March 31, 2019 : Rs. 52 lakh) towards
unclaimed debenture application money and interest accrued thereon.

(ii) Balance with banks in deposit accounts comprises deposits that have an original maturity exceeding 3

months and less than 12 months at balance sheet date.

5.  TRADE RECEIVABLES

PARTICULARS

(i) Receivables considered good - secured

(ii) Receivables considered good - unsecured

(iii) Receivables which have significant increase in credit risk - unsecured
(iv) Receivables - credit impaired - unsecured

As at
March 31. 2020

4,060

As at
March 31. 2019

2,885

Less: Allowance for impairment loss
(i) siginificant increase in credit risk
(ii) credit impaired

Total

33 26

- 246
4,093 3,157
33 26
246

4,060 2,885

Trade receivables include amounts due from the related parties Rs.
lakh)

190 lakh (March 31, 2019: Rs. 176
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(Rs. in lakh)

6.

6.1

Derivative financial instruments

As at March 31, 2020

Derivatives held for hedging and risk management purposes

Foreign exchange forward
Interest rate swap
Cap

Total

Notional value - USD Notional value - JPY

Notional value

Fair value assets

fair value liabilities

(inmn) (inmn)
117 14,656 1,88,509 5,674 801
108 - 80,723 - 2,489
- 14,388 99,462 - 91
225 29,044 3,68,694 5,674 3,381

As at March 31, 2019

Derivatives held for hedging and risk management purposes

Foreign exchange forward
Interest rate swap
Cap

Total

Notional value - USD Notional value - JPY
(in mn) (in mn)

Notional value

Fair value assets

fair value liabilities

Disclosure of effects of hedge accounting on financial position and exposure to foreign currency

As at March 31, 2020

PARTICULARS Notional Carrying amount of Carrying amount of Weighted Change in the
amount hedging instruments hedging instruments average fair value in
assets liabilities contract / the hedging
strike price of instrument
the hedging used as the
instrument basis for
recognising
hedge
ineffectiveness
profit/ (loss)
INR USD - Forward exchange contracts 1,87,495 5,413 - 80.98 5,413
INR JPY - Forward exchange contracts 1,013 260 801 0.82 (541)
As at March 31, 2019
PARTICULARS Notional Carrying amount of Carrying amount of Weighted Change in the
amount hedging instruments hedging instruments average fair value in
assets liabilities contract / the hedging
strike price of instrument
the hedging used as the
instrument basis for
recognising
hedge
ineffectiveness
profit/ (loss)

INR USD - Forward exchange contracts
INR JPY - Forward exchange contracts




6.2

6.3

6.4

Derivative financial instruments (Continued)
Hedged item

As at March 31, 2020

PARTICULARS Change in the Cost of hedge Cost of Foreign
value of hedged reserve as at hedging as at Currency
item used as Monetary
the basis for Items
recognising Translation
hedge Reserve
ineffectiveness
FCY Term Loans (8,600) (3,728) - -
As at March 31, 2019
PARTICULARS Change in the Cost of hedge Cost of Foreign
value of hedged reserve as at hedging as at Currency
item used as Monetary
the basis for Items
recognising Translation
hedge Reserve

FCY Term Loans

ineffectiveness

The impact of the cashflow hedges in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income

PARTICULARS

Forward exchange contracts and Currency swaps

Hedging gains or (losses) recognised in
other comprehensive income

For the year ended
March 31. 2020

(3.728)

For the year ended
March 31. 2019

Hedge ineffectiveness recognised in
statement of profit and (loss)
For the year ended  For the year ended
March 31. 2020 March 31. 2019

Movements in the cost of hedge reserve are as follows:

PARTICULARS

Opening Balance

Effective portion of changes in fair value Currency Swap
Effective portion of changes in fair value Interest rate risk
Effective portion of changes in fair value Cap

Effective portion of changes in fair value foreign currency risk
Foreign currency translation differences

Amortisation of forward premium

Tax on movements on reserves during the year

For the year ended
March 31. 2020

(2.488)

(1)
4,872

(8,600)
5,523
197

For the year ended
March 31. 2019

Closing Balance

(587)

All hedges are 100% effective i.e. there is no ineffectiveness.

Average fixed interest rate:
- Interest rate swap: 2.93%
- Interest rate cap: 0.70%
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as at March 31, 2020
in lakh)
LOANS

PARTICULARS

(Rs.

7.

LOANS

GV

- Amortised Cost

@
(if)
(iii)
()
v
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)
(ix)

Bills purchased and bills discounted
Loans repayable on demand

Term loans

Credit substitutes (refer note 7(a) below)
Finance lease and hire purchase
Factoring

Retained portion of assigned loans

Inter - Company Deposits

Loan to TCL employee welfare trust

- At Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

- Term loans

- At Fair Value through Proit and Loss

Gri

Less:

- Credit substitutes (refer note 7(a) below)

0ss Loans
Impairment loss allowance

- Stage | & 11
- Stage 11

Loans net of impairment loss allowance

Add:
Less :

Total

(8)
0}
(i)
(iii)
(iv)

Gri

Less:

Unamortised loan sourcing costs
Revenue received in advance

QY
Secured by tangible assets
Secured by intangible assets
Covered by bank / government guarantees
Unsecured

0ss Loans

Impairment loss allowance

- at amortised cost

- Stage | & 11

- Stage 11

Loans net of impairment loss allowance

Add:
Less :

Total
©)

Unamortised loan sourcing costs
Revenue received in advance

(8)

(1) Loans in India
(i) Public sector
(i) Others

Gross Loans

Less :

Lo

Add:
Less :
Total

Impairment loss allowance
- at amortised cost

- Stage | & 11

- Stage 111

ans net of impairment loss allowance

Unamortised loan sourcing costs
Revenue received in advance

©m

(I1) Loans outside India
(i) Public sector
(i) Others

Total
Total

- Loans outside India

©) (1+11)

As at
March 31, 2020

As at|
March 31, 2019

42,008 32,956
4115678 41,82,620
1,79,530 1,60,381
78,072 51,874
2,252 3,420
- 4,125
6,286 6,286
4,234 21,080
1,000 -
44,29,060 44.62,742
75,371 58,412
82,714 92,301
42,70,975 43,12,029
13,408 12,602
(23,652) (23,103)
42,60,731 43,01,528
24,89,657 25,07,865
19,39,403 19,54,877
44,29,060 44,62,742
75,371 58,412
82,714 92,301
42,70,975 43,12,029
13,408 12,602
(23,652) (23,103)
42,60,731 43,01,528
- 2,081
44,29,060 44,60,661
44,29,060 44,62,742
75,371 58,412
82,714 92,301,
42,70,975 43,12,029
13,408 12,602
(23,652) (23,103)
42,60,731 43,01,528
42,60,731 43,01,528




Investments in bonds, debentures and other financial instruments which, in substance, form a part of the
Group’s financing activities ("Credit Substitutes™) have been classified under Loans . In the past these were
classified as a part of Investments. Management believes that the classification results in a better
presentation of the substance of these investments and is in alignment with regulatory filings.

2. The above includes impairment allowance towards loan designated as FVTOCI amounting to Rs. 20 lakh
(as on March 31, 2019 : Rs. 85 lakh)

Impairment loss allowance includes impairment loss allowance on loans under fair value through profit and
loss Rs. 5 lakh (Previous year : Nil)

Impairment allowance on loan - stage | & Il includes impairment allowance on loan commitments Rs. 1,726
lakh (As on March 31, 2019 1,458 lakh)

Loans given to related parties as on March 31, 2020 Rs. 60,606 lakh (as on March 31, 2019 : Rs. 90,496
lakh).

The details of Gross investments and unearned finance income in respect of assets given under finance lease
are as under:

PARTICULARS As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

Gross Investments:

- Within one year 27,370 22,414
- Later than one year and not later than five years 52,656 33,889
- Later than five years 1,288 330
Total 81,314 56,633
Unearned Finance Income:
- Within one year 6,282 4,576
- Later than one year and not later than five years 8,676 4,788
- Later than five years 97 56
Total 15,055 9,420
Present Value of Rentals *:
- Within one year 21,088 17,838
- Later than one year and not later than five years 43,980 29,101
- Later than five years 1,191 274
Total 66,259 47,213

* Present Value of Rentals represent the Current Future Outstanding Principal.
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as at March 31, 2020
(Rs. in lakh)

8. INVESTMENTS

PARTICULARS

Investments in India

(A) Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss
Fully paid equity shares (quoted)
Fully paid equity shares (unquoted)
Investment in preference shares
Mutual and other funds (quoted)
Mutual and other funds (unquoted)
Security receipts

(B) Investments carried at cost
Associates companies
Fully paid equity shares (unquoted)

Less: Diminution in value of investments
Net Carrying value of investments

Total Investments

As at
March 31, 2020

As at
March 31, 2019

9,042 24,029
3,356 3,503
- 3,500
50 53
1,547 1,273
419 125
14414 32,483
6,261 6,261
1,535 585
4,726 5,676
19,140 38,159

The market value of quoted investment is equal to the book value.

Note : There are no investments outside India.
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Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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(Rs. in lakh)

8 a. Scrip-wise details of Investments:

PARTICULARS Face value As at As at
Per Unit March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
(inRs) No. of Units Rs in lakh No. of Units Rs in lakh

(A) Investments carried at cost
Associates companies
Fully paid equity shares (unquoted)

Fincare Business Services Limited # 1 25,47,910 858 2,54,791 772
Shriram Properties Limited 10 22,23,569 3,935 22,23,569 3,935
TVS Supply Chain Solutions Limited 10 2,17,325 1,468 2,17,325 1,554 |
6,261 6,261
Less: Diminution in value of investments 1,535 585
4,726 5,676 |

(B) Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss
Mutual and other funds (quoted)

HDFC Debt Fund For Cancer Cure 1000 5,00,000 50 5,00,000 53 ‘
50 53 |
Mutual and other funds (unquoted)
Tata Liquid Fund Regular Plan - Growth 1000 49,670 1,547 43,423 1,273
1,547 1273 |
Fully paid equity shares (quoted)
Hindustan Unilever Limited 1 2,000 46 2,000 34
Praj Industries Limited 2 1,32,56,223 7,297 1,32,56,223 20,560
The New India Assurance Company Limited 5 10,83,376 1,217 10,83,376 2,056
3i Infotech Limited 10 2,32,80,000 303 2,32,80,000 896
Consolidated Construction Consortium Limited 2 4,16,472 - 4,16,472 8
Diamond Power Infra Limited 10 16,31,881 6 16,31,881 26
Gol Offshore Limited 10 6,44,609 - 6,44,609 -
Commercial Engineers & Body Builder Company Limited 10 21,85,192 173 21,85,192 436
IVRCL Limited 2 15,94,857 - 15,94,857 13 |
9,042 24,029 |
Fully paid equity shares (unquoted)
Aricent Technologies Holdings Limited * 10 8 0 8 0
International Asset Reconstruction Company Private Limited 10 1,39,46,295 3,356 1,39,46,295 3,503
SKS Ispat & Power Limited * 10 3,39,31,831 - 3,39,31,831 -
Coastal Projects Limited * 10 59,62,855 - 41,01,806 -
Tata Tele Services Limited * 10 6,22,50,000 - 6,22,50,000 0|
3,356 3,503 |
Security Receipts
International Asset Reconstruction Company Private Limited 1000 1,04,135 419 1,04,135 125 |
419 125 |
Fully paid investment in Preference Shares (Non-Trade)
Kotak Mahindra Bank Limited 5 - - 7,00,00,000 3,500
Bharti Airtel Limited * 100 5 - -
Bharti Hexacom Limited * 100 5 - -
- 3,500 |
Total Investments 19,140 38,159 ‘

* Amount less than Rs. 50,000.
# During the year ended March 31, 2020, the face value of equity shares is Re.1 as compared to previous vear face value of Rs. 10.
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9.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

PARTICULARS

(a) Security deposits
(b) Advances recoverable from related parties
(c) Pass Through Certificate application money (refundable)

(d) Receivable on sale/redemption of investment
Less : Provision for receivable on sale/redemption of investment
Net receivable on sale/redemption of investment

(e) Income accrued but not due

(f) Advances to employees

(9) Receivable under letter of credit/buyer's credit facility
(h) Other receivables

Total

As at As at
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
6,747 6,912
506 420

- 10,599
162 162
(162) (162)
6,888 6,433
309 563
29,369 14,617
896 1,073
44,715 40,617




Tata Capital Financial Services Limited

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
as at March 31, 2020

(Rs. in lakh)
10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Particulars Gross Block Accumulated depreciation and amortisation Net Carrying Value
Opening balance as Additions/ Deletions ~ Written off during Closing balance as at Opening balance as Depreciation/ Deletions/ Closing balance as at As at|
at April 1, 2019 Adjustments the year* March 31, 2020 at April 1,2019 Amortisation for the Adjustments March 31, 2020 March 31, 2020
year

TANGIBLE ASSETS

Buildings # 3,677 - - - 3,677 400 200 - 600 3,077
3,677 - - - 3,677 200 200 - 400 3,277

Leasehold Improvements 2,253 280 97 - 2,436 993 389 90 1,292 1,144
2,054 266 67 - 2,253 545 479 31 993 1,260

Furniture & Fixtures 767 146 26 - 887 256 177 13 420 467
652 134 19 - 767 136 127 7 256 511

Computer Equipment 3,624 1,003 105 3 4,519 1,446 1,088 106 2,428 2,091
2,600 1,026 2 - 3,624 604 843 1 1,446 2,178

Office Equipment 1,025 288 25 - 1,288 420 282 14 688 600
689 364 28 - 1,025 202 229 11 420 605

Plant & Machinery 240 - 7 - 233 91 40 5 126 107
255 - 15 - 240 52 46 7 91 149

Vehicles 462 223 113 2 570 213 139 97 255 315
483 176 197 - 462 167 144 98 213 249

Right of use asset - 11,617 46 - 11571 - 2,839 7 2,832 8,739

ASSETS GIVEN UNDER OPERATING LEASE/RENTAL

Construction Equipment 15,145 2,356 1,818 - 15,683 5,289 6,318 1,294 10,313 5,370
12,219 3,296 370 - 15,145 2,642 2,803 156 5,289 9,856

Vehicles 4,256 331 650 - 3,937 1,801 1,447 396 2,852 1,085
2,351 2,294 389 - 4,256 698 1,353 250 1,801 2,455

Plant & Machinery 65,174 12,839 1,468 55 76,490 16,692 13,907 1,370 29,229 47,261
32,711 34,031 1,568 - 65,174 6,415 11,018 741 16,692 48,482

Computer Equipment 19,827 10,507 3,826 - 26,508 11,041 5,502 3,352 13,191 13,317
15,018 6,097 1,288 - 19,827 6,583 5,562 1,104 11,041 8,786

Furniture & Fixtures 1,166 299 149 6 1,310 572 340 145 767 543
957 252 43 - 1,166 296 317 41 572 594

Office Equipments 3,532 234 899 11 2,856 1,438 758 874 1,322 1,534
1,438 2,194 100 - 3,532 785 749 96 1,438 2,094

Railway Wagons 15,010 - - - 15,010 5,331 2,750 - 8,081 6,929
14,957 53 - - 15,010 2,580 2,751 - 5,331 9,679

Electrical Installation & Equipments 1,847 209 4 1 2,051 535 439 4 970 1,081
1,074 773 - - 1,847 228 307 - 535 1,312

TANGIBLE ASSETS - TOTAL 1,38,005 40,332 9,233 78 1,69,026 46,518 36,615 7,767 75,366 93,660

91,135 50,956 4,086 - 1,38,005 22,133 26,928 2,543 46,518 91,487




Tata Capital Financial Services Limited

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
as at March 31, 2020

(Rs. in lakh)
10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
(Rs. in lakh)
Particulars Gross Block Accumulated depreciation and amortisation Net Carrying Value
Opening balance as Additions/ Deletions ~ Written off during Closing balance as at Opening balance as Depreciation/ Deletions/ Closing balance as at As at|
at April 1, 2019 Adjustments the year* March 31, 2020 at April 1,2019 Amortisation for the Adjustments March 31, 2020 March 31, 2020
year
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(other than internallv aenerated)
Goodwill - - - - - - - - - -
Software 3,129 421 5 - 3,545 950 564 5 1,509 2,036
2,770 359 - - 3,129 455 495 - 950 2,179
INTANGIBLE ASSETS - TOTAL 3,129 421 5 - 3,545 950 564 5 1,509 2,036
2,770 359 - - 3,129 455 495 - 950 2,179
Total 141,134 40,753 9,238 78 1,72,571 47,468 37,179 7,772 76,875 95,696
93,905 51,315 4,086 - 141,134 22,588 27,423 2,543 47,468 93,666

Figures in italics relate to March 31, 2019

# Immovable property having net carrying value amounting to Rs. 23 lakh and assets given under operating lease amounting to Rs. 77,143 lakh is hypothecated against borrowings, refer notes 14.1 and 35(B)(iii).



Tata Capital Financial Services Limited

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

as at March 31, 2020

(Rs. in lakh)

11.

OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (UNSECURED - CONSIDERED GOOD)

PARTICULARS

(a) Capital advances

(b) Prepaid expenses

(c) Balances with government authorities

(d) Non Current Assets held-for-sale
Less : Provision for receivable on sale/redemption of investment
Net non current asset held-for-sale

(e) Other advances

Total

As at As at|
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019
15,650 22,640
1,227 2,116
11,419 10,163
4,433 4,931
4,433 4,931
341 221
28,637 35,140




Tata Capital Financial Services Limited

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
as at March 31, 2020

(Rs. in lakh)

12. (i INCOME TAXES

CURRENT TAX ASSET (NET)

PARTICULARS

Advance tax and tax deducted at souurce (net of provision for tax Rs. 135,653 lakh (Previous year: Rs. 112,852)

Total

As at
March 31, 2020

12,703

As at
March 31, 2019

8,797

12,703

8,797

A The income tax ex